PLOWSHARES‑DISARMAMENT ACTIONS

SEPTEMBER 1980 ‑ APRIL 1988

"and they shall beat their swords into plowshares,

and their spears into pruning hooks;

nation shall not lift up sword against nation,

neither shall they learn war anymore. "

ISAIAH 2:4

INTRODUCTION

On September 9, 1980, the "Plowshares Eight" entered a General Electric plant in King of Prussia, Pennsylvania where the nose cones for the Mark 12A nuclear warheads were manufactured. With hammers and blood they enacted the Biblical prophecies of Isaiah (2:4) and Micah (4:3) to "beat swords into plowshares" by hammering on two of the nose cones and pouring blood on documents. They were subsequently arrested, tried, convicted and sentenced.

Recognizing the imminent peril nuclear weapons pose for all life, there have been other communities and individuals since the Plowshares Eight action who, after a process of spiritual preparation and reflection on the Biblical imperative to "beat swords into plowshares," have symbolically yet concretely disarmed components of US first‑strike nuclear weapons systems: the MX, Pershing II, Cruise, Minuteman ICBM's, Trident II missiles, Trident submarines, B‑52 Bombers, P‑3 Orion anti‑submarine aircraft and the ELF communications system. Combat aircraft used for military intervention have also been disarmed. Accepting full responsibility for their actions, the Plowshares activists have peacefully awaited arrest following each act.

Resonating closely with this spirit of nonviolent direct disarmament, other people, though not seeing their action arising out of the Biblical prophesy of Isaiah and Micah, have been compelled by their conscience to disarm nonviolently components of the nuclear arsenal.

As of April 1988, almost ninety individuals have participated in twenty‑six plowshares and other related disarmament actions. Also one group, intending to disarm nuclear weapons components, were unable to do so because of high security. There have been 21 trials to date which have ended with convictions. The Epiphany Plowshares have been tried an unprecedented four times; 3 trials ended in a mistrial‑hung jury. In the fourth trial they were convicted. Those who have been convicted have received prison sentences ranging from I to 18 years. This chronology briefly describes these plowshares‑disarmament actions and trials and states the sentence each person received.

* NOTE: During these trials most of the defendants have represented themselves and have been assisted by legal advisors. In their defense many have attempted to show, through personal an expert testimony, that their actions were morally and legally justified, and that their intent was to protect life, not commit a crime. In eleven of these cases defendants have been tried in Federal Court while the other ten cases have been tried in State Court.

PLOWSHARES EIGHT: September 9, 1980, Daniel Berrigan, Jesuit priest, author and poet from New York City; Philip Berrigan, father and co‑founder of Jonah House in Baltimore, MD; Dean Hammer, member of the Covenant Peace Community in New Haven, CT; Elmer Maas, musician and former college teacher from New York City; Carl Kabat, Oblate priest and missionary; Anne Montgomery, Religious of the Sacred Heart sister and teacher from New York City;  Molly Rush, mother and founder of the Thomas Merton Center in Pittsburgh and John Schuchardt, ax‑marine, lawyer, father and member of Jonah House, entered the General Electric Nuclear Missile Re‑entry Division in King of Prussia, PA where nose cones for the Mark 12A warheads were made. They hammered on two nose cones, poured blood on documents and offered prayers for peace. They were arrested shortly thereafter and initially charged with over ten different felony and misdemeanor counts.

In February 1981, they underwent a jury trial in Norristown, Pennsylvania During their trial they were denied a "justification defense" and could not present expert testimony. Due to the Court's suppression of individual testimony about the Mark 12A and U.S. nuclear war‑fighting policies, four left the trial and returned to witness at G.E. They were re‑arrested and returned to court. They were convicted by a jury of burglary, conspiracy and criminal mischief and sentenced to prison terms of five to ten years. They appealed and the Pennsylvania Superior Court reversed their conviction in February 1984. The State of Pennsylvania then appealed that decision. Following a ruling in the fall of 1985 by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court in favor of the State on certain issues (including the exclusion of the justification defense), the case has been returned to the Superior Court Appeals Panel. In December of 1987, The Superior Court of Pennsylvania refused their appeal, but ordered a re‑sentencing.

PLOWSHARES NUMBER TWO: On December 13, 1980, Peter DeMott, former seminarian and Vietnam veteran from Jonah House, entered the General Dynamics Electric Boat (EB) shipyard in Groton, Connecticut during the launch ceremony for the "USS Baltimore" fast attack submarine. Noticing an empty EB security van with keys in it, he got into the van and repeatedly rammed the Trident "USS Florida" denting the rudder. Security guards then broke into the van and arrested him. Conducting his own defense during a week‑long jury trial, he was convicted of criminal mischief and criminal trespass and sentenced to one year in jail.

TRIDENT NEIN: (German for No): Independence Day, 1982, Judy Beaumont, a Benedictine sister and teacher from Chicago; Anne Montgomery, of the Plowshares Eight; James Cunningham, an ex‑lawyer from Jonah House; George Veasey, a Vietnam Veteran also from Jonah House; Tim Quinn, expectant father and housepainter from Hartford, CT, Anne Bennis, teacher from Philadelphia; Bill Hartman, peace worker from Philadelphia; Vincent Kay, housepainter and poet from New Haven, and Art Laffin, member of the Covenant Peace Community in New Haven, entered EB to make a "declaration of independence" from the Trident submarine and all nuclear weapons. Four boarded the Trident "USS Florida" by canoe, hammered on several missile hatches, poured blood, and with spray paint, renamed the submarine "USS Auschwitz." They were arrested within half an hour. Meanwhile, five others entered EB's south storage yard and hammered and poured blood on two Trident sonar spheres. They were apprehended after three hours. During their two week jury trial, they were disallowed a justification defense and expert witnesses were prohibited from testifying about the dangers of the first‑strike Trident. They were convicted of criminal mischief, conspiracy and criminal trespass and ordered to pay $1386.67 in restitution to the Navy. They were sentenced to jail for up to one year.

PLOWSHARES NUMBER FOUR: November 14, 1982—five days after the Trident Nein sentencing —John Grady, auto mechanic from Ithaca, New York, Ellen Grady, aide to an eldery woman and peace worker, also from Ithaca; Peter DeMott, of Plowshares Number Two; Jean Holladay, grandmother and nurse from Massachusetts; Roger Ludwig, a poet and musician involved in work with the poor in Washington, D.C.; Elmer Maas, of the Plowshares Eight, and Marcia Timmel, from the Dorothy Day Catholic Worker in Washington, D.C., entered EB. Three boarded the Trident "USS Georgia" and hammered and poured blood on several missile hatches. Four others entered the south storage yard and poured blood and hammered on Trident components before being quickly apprehended. Like the Trident Nein, they underwent a jury trial and were denied a justification defense. They also were convicted of criminal mischief, conspiracy and criminal trespass. They received prison sentences ranging from two months to one year.

AVCO PLOWSHARES: July 14, 1983, Agnes Bauerlein, mother and grandmother from Ambler, PA; Macy Morse, mother and grandmother from Nashua, NH; Mary Lyons, mother, grandmother and teacher from Hartford, CT; Frank Panopoulos, member of the Cor Jesu community from New York City; Jean Holladay, of the Plowshares Number Four; John Pendleton, member of Jonah House and John Schuchardt, of the Plowshares Eight, entered the AVCO Systems Division in Wilmington, Massachusetts, where MX and Pershing II nuclear weapons components are produced. They hammered on computer equipment related to these weapons systems and poured blood on blueprints labeled MX‑"Peacekeeper." They also served AVCO and its co‑conspirators, including the National Security State and the Armed Forces, with an indictment for committing crimes against God and humanity by manufacturing for profit weapons of genocide. They were apprehended within an hour. During their jury trial they were able to present a justification defense but this defense and expert testimony was disallowed by the judge prior to jury deliberation. They were convicted of wanton destruction and trespass. They were sentenced to jail for up to three and one‑half months. A decision on their appeal is still pending at the time of this writing.

GRIFFISS PLOWSHARES: Thanksgiving Day, November 24, 1983, Jackie Allen, a nursery school teacher from Hartford, CT; Clare Grady, an artist and potter from Ithaca, NY; Dean Hammer, father and member of the Plowshares Eight; Elizabeth McAlister, mother and co‑founder of Jonah House; Vern Rossman, minister, father and grandfather from Boston, MA; Kathleen Rumpf, a Catholic Worker from Marlboro, NY and Karl Smith, member of Jonah House, entered Griffiss Air Force Base in Rome, NY They hammered and poured blood on a B‑52 bomber converted to carry cruise missiles as well as on B‑52 engines. They also left at the site of their witness a written indictment of Griffiss Air Force Base and the U.S. Government pointing to the war crimes of preparing for nuclear war and depicting how the new state religion of "nuclearism" denies constitutional rights and punishes acts of conscience. Unnoticed for several hours, they finally approached security guards and were arrested.

In this, the first Plowshares case to be tried in Federal Court, their justification defense was denied. They were acquitted by a jury of sabotage, but they were convicted of conspiracy and destruction of government property. They received prison sentences ranging from two to three years. Their appeal was denied in Federal Court in March 1985. As of November 1986 all seven have served their prison sentences but three remain on probation through the Spring of 1987.

PLOWSHARES NUMBER SEVEN: On December 4, 1983, Carl Kabat, of the Plowshares Eight, and three West Germans—Herwig Jantschik, Dr. Wolfgang Sternstein and Karin Vix—entered a U.S. Army base in Schwabisch‑Gmund, West Germany and carried out the first Plowshares action in Europe. Six weeks earlier, they publicly announced their actions, but did not disclose the exact date or place. They participated in a six week peace march in Germany where they distributed a booklet informing the public and media about their action and previous plowshares actions. On December 4, they entered the base early in the morning and with hammers and bolt cutters disarmed a Pershing II missile launcher. They were soon apprehended by U.S. soldiers. Following their arrest, they were all released ROR. Carl returned to the U.S. and did not attend the trial. During the first week of February 1985, the three Germans were tried before the three judges and two lay judges and convicted. After their conviction, the judges called the Pershing II a "bad prophesy," and characterized their action as violence. Herwig and Wolfgang were sentenced to 1800 dm ($900) or 90 days in jail, while Karin was sentenced to 450 dm ($225) or 60 days in jail. Karin and Herwig served their prison sentence; Wolfgang paid the fine.

PERSHING PLOWSHARES: In the season of Passover, Easter Morning, April 22, 1984, Per Herngren, a student and peace worker from Sweden; Paul Magno, from the Dorothy Day Catholic Worker in Washington, D.C.; Todd Kaplan, involved in work with the poor in Washington, D.C.; Tim Lietzke, member of Jeremiah House in Richmond, VA; Anne Montgomery, of the Plowshares Eight and Trident Nein; Patrick O'Neill, university student and peace worker from Greenville, North Carolina; Jim Perkins, teacher, father and member of Jonah House; and Christin Schmidt, university student and peace worker from Rhode Island, entered Martin Marietta in Orlando, Florida. Once inside, they hammered and poured blood on Pershing II missile components and on a Patriot missile launcher. They also served Martin Marietta with an indictment for engaging in the criminal activity of building nuclear weapons in violation of Divine, international and national law. They also displayed a banner which said: "Violence Ends Where Love Begins." They were apprehended after several hours. During their jury trial in Federal Court they were denied a justification defense. They were convicted of depredation of government property and conspiracy. They were sentenced to three years in federal prison, given five years suspended sentences with probation and each ordered to pay $2900 in restitution. Both their appeal and motion for reduction of sentence has been denied in Federal Court. Herngren, a Swedish national, was deported on August 27,1985, after serving over a year of his sentence. The other seven have served their sentences and remain on probation through 1991.

SPERRY SOFTWARE PAIR: August 10, 1984, John LeForge and Barbara Katt, house painters and peace workers from Bemidji, MN, dressed as quality control inspectors, entered Sperry Corporation in Eagan, Minnesota. Once inside they poured blood and hammered on two prototype computers designed to provide guidance and navigation information for Trident submarines and F4G fighter bombers. In addressing Sperry's nuclear war preparations, they also served Sperry with a citizens indictment declaring that they are committing war crimes in violation of national and international law. After a two day jury trial in Federal Court in which they were allowed to present a justification defense, they were convicted of destruction of government property. Judge Miles Lord imposed a six month suspended sentence and used the occasion to criticize the arms industry, and to cite Sperry's corporate corruption. He also recognized the legitmacy of the justification defense for civil disobedience trials and for the Sperry Software trial in particular.

TRIDENT II PLOWSHARES: October 1, 1984, William Boston, a house painter and peace worker from New Haven, CT; Jean Holladay, of the Plowshares Number Four and AVCO Plowshares; Frank Panopoulos and John Pendleton of the AVCO Plowshares, and Leo Schiff, draft registration resister and natural foods chef from Vermont, entered the EB Quonset Point facility in North Kingston, Rhode Island. They hammered and poured blood on six Trident II missile tubes and unfurled a banner which said: "Harvest of Hope -‑ ​Swords into Plowshares." They also placed a pumpkin at the site and posted a written "Call to Conscience" on the missile tubes condemning these weapons under international and religious law and calling on those responsible to cease their crimes against humanity. They were arrested within half an hour and charged with possession of burglary tools, malicious damage to property and criminal trespass.

During their jury trial, expert witnesses were allowed to be qualified in the presence of the jury. However the judge ruled this and other expert testimony irrelevant and denied a justification defense. At the end of their two week‑long trial, the prosecution dropped the burglary tools charge (a felony carrying ten years) as the defendants pled guilty to the malicious damage to property charge. (After the State's case, the judge dismissed the trespass charge). After two days of prayer and discernment, the five concluded that pleading guilty was the most nonviolent course to take. On October 18, 1985, they were each sentenced to one year and a $500 fine. Frank was given an additional two months for a contempt charge relating to his refusal to disclose to the judge who drove the group to EB. All five have served their sentences and were released by October 1986.

SILO PRUNING HOOKS: November 12, 1984, Carl Kabat, of the Plowshares Eight and Plowshares Number Seven; Paul Kabat, an Oblate priest from Minnesota; Larry Cloud Morgan, Native American and mental health care worker from Minneapolis, MN; Helen Woodson, mother of eleven children and founder of the Gaudete Peace and Justice Center from Madison, WI, entered a Minuteman II missile silo controlled by Whiteman Air Force Base in Knob Noster, Missouri. Once inside the silo area, they used a jackhammer and air compressor to damage the silo cover lid. They then offered a Eucharist and left at the silo a Biblical and Native American indictment of the U.S. government and the institutional church for their complicity in the pending omnicide of nuclear holocaust. They were arrested close to an hour after their action by armed military guards authorized to use "deadly force" against intruders. (As has been the case in each of the Plowshares actions nobody was harmed.) Following their arrest, they were declared by the court to be a "threat to the community" and were thus held on "preventive detention" and denied bond.

They underwent a jury trial in Federal Court in February 1985 in Kansas City, Missouri. They were convicted of destruction of government property, conspiracy, intent to damage the national defense and trespass. On March 27,1985, they received the most severe prison sentences to date of any Plowshares group: Larry ‑ eight years; Paul ‑ ten years; and Carl and Helen ‑ eighteen years. They were also given three to five years probation and ordered to pay $2932.80 each in restitution. They are now serving their sentences and all but Helen have appealed their case, which was denied in Federal Court in the spring of 1986. On November 1, 1985. U.S. District Judge D. Brook Bartlett, their trial judge, reduced Helen's sentence from eighteen to twelve years. In March 1987, Larry and Paul were released from prison following a sentence reduction hearing. Larry's sentence was reduced to 36 months and three years probation while Paul's sentence was reduced to 40 months and 4 years probation. Both are required to perform 300 hours of community service and not violate the law for the duration of their probation. All but Helen have appealed their case, which was denied in the Spring of 1986. On April 22, 1987, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled not to consider Carl's appeal.

Helen Woodson's Open Escape. On March 16,1988 Helen Woodson walked through the main gate of Alderson Prison carrying a banner and statement, protesting the nuclear arms race, pollution of the environment and prison conditions for women. She was apprehended outside the prison by a patrol vehicle. She is presently in solitary confinement awaiting a trial or disciplinary action. By this protest Helen has chosen to continue her resistance against evil, risking yet another 5 years in prison

PLOWSHARES NUMBER TWELVE: February 19,1985 Martin Holladay, a carpenter from Sheffield, Vermont, entered another Minuteman II missile silo of Whiteman Air Force Base near Odessa, Missouri. He damaged the lid of the silo with a hammer and chisel, along with some electrical boxes. He also poured blood on the silo and spraypainted "No More Hiroshimas." He left at the site an indictment charging the U.S. government with committing crimes against God and international law by its nuclear war preparations. After his arrest, he was denied bond and held until trial. During his four day jury trial, he was denied the opportunity to present a justification defense. On April 25, 1985, he was convicted of destruction of government property and destruction of national defense material. He was sentenced on May 16, 1985, to eight years in federal prison and five years probation. He was also fined $1000 and ordered to pay $2242 in restitution. Martin was released from prison after 19 months following a sentence reduction hearing on September 24, 1986. He remains on probation through 1991 and is required to pay restitution and not violate the law during his probation.

TRIDENT II PRUNING HOOKS: April 18,1985 Greg Boertje, ex‑army office and peace organizer from Louisiana; John Heid, former Franciscan seminarian and social worker from Ithaca, NY; Roger Ludwig, of the Plowshares Number Four, Sheila Parks, former college teacher from Medford, MA; Suzanne Schmidt, mother, grandmother, worker with the disabled and member of Jonah House; and George Veasey, of the Trident Nein, entered the EB Quonset Point facility in North Kingston, Rhode Island ‑‑ the same site where the Trident II Plowshares had acted seven months earlier. They poured blood and hammered on three Trident II missile tubes and spraypainted "Dachau" on them. They left there a "Call to Conscience" indicting General Dynamics for war crimes and preparing for a war of aggression in violation of international, constitutional and spiritual law. They were also able to celebrate a Jewish‑Christian ceremony of faith and hope. Arrested after a short time, they were charged with possession of burglary tools, malicious damage to property and criminal trespass and held on $18,000 bond. While Sheila and Suzanne were released nearly a month after the action on a "Promise to Appear" (PTA) and John after five months, Greg, George and Roger remained in jail for nearly nine months, refusing to accept a PTA for reasons of conscience. Shortly before their trial date, the judge released the three unconditionally from prison. During their two week jury trial, the judge denied their justification defense insisting that their motives were irrelevant to the case. They were convicted of all three charges. *On March 31, 1986 they were sentenced to three years, suspended after one year, and given two years probation. Greg, Suzanne and Sheila are appealing their case. John, Greg, George and Roger were released during the summer of 1986. Sheila and Suzanne were released in January 1987.

* In a special gesture of support for the group, four jurors had the judge publicly read a statement from them that they were sympathetic to their cause.

MICHIGAN ELF DISARMAMENT ACTION: May 28,1985 Tom Hastings, a peace activist involved in radio work from Wisconsin, entered a wooded area in Michigan's upper peninsula and sawed down one of the poles carrying the Navy's "Extremely Low Frequency" (ELF) transmitter antennas which are used to coordinate the communications, command, and control process of all nuclear submarines in the U.S. He remained at the site for 45 minutes, praying, singing and planting a circle of corn around the pole. The next morning, he gave a part of the pole to Congressman Bob Davis' office and turned himself in to the local sheriff. Held for 48 hours, he was released on personal recognizance. He underwent a jury trial and was convicted of malicious destruction of property. On September 27, 1985, he was sentenced to fifteen days and two years probation.

PANTEX DISARMAMENT ACTION: July 16,1985, Richard Miller, involved in work with the poor in Des Moines, Iowa, began dismantling a section of railroad track from the railroad spur leading from U.S. Department of Energy's Pantex Nuclear Weapons Assembly Plant in Amarillo, Texas to a main line of the Topeka and Santa Fe Railroad. After first taking extensive precautions to prevent accidental derailment and avoid personal injury, he labored with railroad tools for seven hours, removing a 39 foot section of rail. Pointing out the connection between the Nazi extermination camp at Auschwitz and the Pantex factory, which is the final assembly point for every nuclear weapon made in the U. S., he put up a banner that read: "Pantex=Auschwitz —Stop the Trains. " He further stated: "At Auschwitz the trains carried the people to the crematoria; at Pantex the trains carry the crematoria to the people." Charged with "wrecking trains" and destruction of national defense materials, he underwent a jury trial in Federal Court and was convicted. On November 8,1985, he was sentenced to two four year sentences to run concurrently. He is now serving his sentence and has chosen not to appeal his case.

WISCONSIN ELF DISARMAMENT ACTION: August 14, 1985 Jeff Leys, a draft registration resister and peace worker from St. Paul, Minnesota, continued the process of disarming ELF (see Michigan ELF action) by sawing two deep notches in an ELF pole hoping to weaken it and leaving the rest to natural forces. (Unlike the Michigan ELF still under construction, the 56 mile Wisconsin ELF system is fully operational, with 1.5 million watts flowing through it). In a statement he carried with him to the site he explained: "I act today in accordance with the teachings of Gandhi, Christ and the Indians ‑‑ and in accordance with the basic underpinnings of humanity, as expressed in the various world religions...and international laws." After an hour, Jeff walked to a transmitter site to turn himself in. Jailed after his arrest, he was tried by a jury on September 30,1985 and was convicted of criminal damage to properly. On October 29, 1985 Jeff was sentenced to five months in jail and given a three years suspended sentence with three years probation. He was also ordered to pay $4775 in restitution. In April of 1986 Jeff began serving his three year sentence because of his refusal to pay restitution for reasons of conscience. His appeal was denied in September 1986. He was released in August 1987.

MARTIN MARIETTA MX WITNESS: September 27, 1985 Al Zook, father and grandfather active with the Catholic Worker in Denver, CO; Mary Sprunger‑Froese, member of the Bijou Community and involved in hospitality work in Colorado Springs, CO; and Marie Nord, a Minnesota Franciscan sister involved in hospitality work for women, entered Martin Marietta's Denver, Colorado plant. (Martin Marietta has a $2 billion contract for building and testing the MX missile). With the intent of disarming components of the MX missile, they carried blood and hammers into the MX work area. Finding the area highly secured by employees wearing "peacekeeper" security badges, the three were not able to enter areas where MX work is done and directly disarm any MX components. They were, however, able to pour blood on large interior windows overlooking the work areas and unfurled their banner: "Swords Into Plowshares. " They were quickly arrested and each charged with felony burglary and criminal mischief. The burglary charge was eventually dropped, however the criminal mischief charge was changed from a misdemeanor to a felony. They were imprisoned for one month before they were released on their own recognizance. On March 5,1986 they were found guilty by a jury of criminal mischief exceeding $300. During their trial the judge refused to hear their justification defense. On May 1, 1986, they were sentenced to two months in prison.

SILO PLOWSHARES: Good Friday, March 28,1986 Darla Bradley end Larry Morlan of the Davenport Catholic Worker in Iowa; Jean Gump, a mother of twelve and grandmother from Morton Grove, Illinois; Ken Rippetoe, a member of the Catholic Worker in Rock Island, Illinois; and John Volpe, father, former employee at the Rock Island Arsenal and member of the Davenport Catholic Worker, entered two Minuteman Missile Silos controlled by Whiteman Air Force Base near Holden, Missouri. Dividing into two groups, the first group of three went to Silo M10 while the second group went to Silo M6. Hanging banners on the silo fences, one of which read: "Disarmament—An Act of Healing" they employed sledgehammers to split and disarm the geared central track used to move the 120 ton missile silo cover at the time of launch. They also cut circuits and used masonry hammers to damage electrical sensor equipment. They, then poured blood on the silo covers in the form of a cross and spraypainted "Disarm and Live" and "For the Children" on the silo pad. They left at the site an indictment charging the U.S. government with committing crimes against the laws of God and humanity and indicting as well the institutional Christian church for its complicity in the arms race. They were arrested nearly 40 minutes after their action by heavily armed military police. Following their arrest they were taken into custody and then released on their own recognizance. During their five day jury trial they presented important evidence regarding their state of mind but the jury was not allowed to consider justification as a defense. On June 27, 1986 they were convicted of destruction of government property and conspiracy. In addition, Jean Larry and Darla were cited for contempt for refusing to answer questions about where they met prior to the action. They sewed seven days in jail following the trial. John and Ken were also imprisoned for refusing to cooperate with the conditions of their release so long as the others were imprisoned for contempt. They were released on July 8. On August 22, 1986 Darla, Jean, Ken and Larry were sentenced to 8 years with 5 years probation while John was sentenced to 7 years with 5 years probation. John and Darla were ordered to pay $1680 in restitution while Larry, Jean and Ken were ordered to pay $424. Each was also fined $100.

In April 1987, John was released from prison following a sentence reduction hearing. His sentence was reduced to l0 months, 5 years probation, and he is required to pay restitution. Ken and Darla were released from prison in mid‑June 1987 after their sentence was reduced to one year. They remain on probation for 5 years and are required to pay restitution. All are required not to violate the law for the duration of their probation. Jean and Larry are currently serving their sentences.

PERSHING TO PLOWSHARES: On December 12, 1986 on the 7th anniversary of the NATO decision to deploy the Cruise and the Pershing II in Europe, Heike Huschauer, a member of the city council of Neuss, West Gerrnany; Suzanne Mauch‑Friz, a social worker from Stuttgart; Wolfgang Stemstein, Plowshares #7; and Stellan Vinthagen, an orderly from Sweden, entered a back‑up U.S. Army weapons depot at Schwabisch‑Gmund, West Germany and damaged the tractor‑rig of a Pershing II Missile Launch box. They hammered on the crane that manuvers the missile and on the generator that operates the launcher; and poured blood on the rig. The banner which they hung over the truck stated, "Choose Life for the Children and Poor." These words were also spray painted on the road way. They were discovered after thirty minutes, when they signalled to a nearby guard.

In a statement of intent the four said, "With awareness of our responsibility we understand that we are the ones who make the arms race possible by not trying to stop it." All four have been released and are awaiting trial.
EPIPHANY PLOWSHARES: On January 6, 1987, the Christian Feast of Epiphany, Greg Boertje, of the Trident II Pruning Hooks, Rev. Dexter Lanctot and Rev. Thomas McCann, priests of the Archdiocese of Philadelphia, and Lin Romano, an advocate for the poor from Washington D.C., entered the Willow Grove Naval Air Station in Horsham, PA. Dividing into two groups, one group went to a Navy P‑3 Orion antisubmarine aircraft—an essential part of the U.S. first‑strike arsenal. Meanwhile the other group went to a Marine CH‑53 Sea Stallion and an Army H‑1 Huey helicopter—both integral parts of U.S. interventionary forces. Both groups hammered and poured blood on the aircraft and displayed banners which proclaimed: "Seek the Disarmed Christ" and "Espadas en Arados—Swords into Plowshares. " The four left behind a statement which explained why they acted on Epiphany, the Christian feast that recalls the 3 Magi's search for the Christ child, "who came in the name of Peace." Having therefore addressed the "deadly connection" between nuclear weapons and military intervention, they also left an indictment of the US government for its "criminal interventionary" wars in Central America and the Middle East and its "first‑strike nuclear war making policies." They were charged with conspiracy, destruction of government property and trespass—charges which carry up to 15 years.

On March 31, they underwent a week‑long jury trial in Federal Court in Philadelphia and were prevented from presenting a crime prevention or necessity defense. For the first time in a Plowshares case, the trial ended in a hung jury and a mistrial. On May 11, 1987 they were retried. The defendants were once again denied their affirmative defenses and their testimony was even more severely restricted than in the first trial. Despite the constraints of the court, their trial once again ended in a hung jury and a mistrial. In an interview following the trial, one juror stated he believed the group did not act with criminal intent and affirmed their efforts for disarmament. After the second trial, the two priests accepted a plea bargain and plead guilty to criminal trespass and were sentenced to 100 days in federal prison plus $500 fines.

On July 13, 1987, a third trial began for Boertje and Romano. This trial ended in a mistrial when the judge ruled that the jury had been "contaminated" by statements from the defendants and spectators which included forbidden topics such as international law. On September 21, 1987, a fourth trial began, the judge's repressive "gag order" remained in effect. During the trial, both defendants received two contempt charges and had lawyers appointed to represent them (defendants had been representing themselves). On September 25, 1987, they were found guilty of all three charges.

On November 17, Lin was sentenced to 2 years and 100 days in prison plus 5 years probation. For reasons of conscience, Greg chose not to appear for sentencing. In a written public statement issued at the time of sentencing, Greg stated his intention to go "underground" and eventually emerge in another non‑violent action.

As a consequence of their participation in the January 6th action, Frs. Lanctot and McCann have been suspended from all priestly ministries by the Catholic Archdiocese of Philadelphia.

PAUPERS PLOWSHARES: On Good Friday, April 17,1987, two brothers, Fr. Pat Sieber, a Franciscan priest who works at St. Francis Inn, a shelter for the homeless and soup kitchen in Philadelphia, and Rick Sieber, a father of three who also works at St. Francis Inn, entered the Naval Air Development Center in Warminster PA. Once inside they dug a hole and buried a foot‑long coffin that listed the names of 65 homeless and poor people who have been buried in an unkept lot in northeast Philadelphia known as potter's or "paupers" field since 1980. They also placed a 3 foot cross bearing the same names on top of the makeshift grave. They then approached a P‑3 Orion aircraft—an integral part of the U.S. fret‑strike arsenal—and hammered on the plane's strobe light, cut wires in the nose of the plane and poured blood on a wing and fuselage area of the aircraft. While awaiting arrest they knelt in prayer and held a banner which said: "God Hears the Cry of the Poor." They left at the site a statement and indictment addressing the criminality of U.S. nuclear war preparations, the priority the government gives to arms over the poor, and how these arms preparations are actually killing the poor. In addition to signing their own names to these statements, they also signed the name "Lazarus" to represent the poor for whom they acted. They were arrested after a half an hour and charged with unlawful entry and destruction of government property. On June 12, the charges were reduced to one misdemeanor—unlawful entry.

On August 5, 1987, after an hour long bench trial, the pair were found guilty of unlawful entry. They were sentenced to one year's probation, fined $100 and ordered to pay $1540 in restitution.

WHITE ROSE DISARMAMENT ACTION: On June 2, 1987, in the early morning, Katya Komisaruk, a peace activist from the San Francisco Bay area, walked through an unlocked gate leaving cookies and a bouquet of flowers for security guards and entered a satellite control facility named "NAVSTAR" at the Vandenberg AFB in Santa Barbara county, California. ('NAVSTAR' is the U.S. global positioning system of satellites. When fully operational by 1991, this system will consist of 18 orbiting satellites which will be able to provide the navigational and guidance signals to Trident II and other nuclear missiles as well as the Star Wars system, for a first‑strike nuclear attack.) Once inside, she used a hammer, crowbar and cordless electric drill to damage panels of an IBM mainframe computer and a satellite dish on top of the building. Using a crowbar she removed the computer's chip boards and danced on them. On the walls she spray​painted "Nuremberg," "International Law," and statements for disarmament. After being undetected for two hours, she left the base and hitchhiked to San Francisco. The next morning she held a press conference at the Federal Building in San Francisco to explain her action whereupon she was taken into custody by the FBI. She was charged with injury to national defense materials (sabotage). Each charge carries a maximum penalty of ten years in prison an/or a $250,000 fine. The day before her trial the sabotage charge was dropped in the face of a defense brief that had been earlier submitted calling upon the government to prove every element of the charge beyond a reasonable doubt. Her trial began on November 10, 1987 in Los Angeles Federal Court. Several weeks before the trial, Judge Rea ruled in favor of the U.S. prosecutor's "motion in limine" which would severely restrict the evidence allowed as well as Katya's personal testimony. Katya, who represented herself and was assisted by co‑counsel, was not allowed to mention words like "nuclear missles" or "first‑strike." The jury found her guilty of destruction of property on November 16, 1987. On January 11, 1988 Katya was sentenced to 5 years in prison. In addition fudge Rea ordered her to pay $500,000 restitution because he had heard that there might be a movie or book based on her action. Katya closely identifies with Sophie Scholl, a young German woman and member of the White Rose group during World War II, who was executed by the Third Reich for publicly opposing Nazi atrocities.

TRANSFIGURATION PLOWSHARES (WEST): On August 5, 1987, at 5:15 p.m., the exact moment (8:15 a.m. in Japan) when the U.S. dropped the first atomic bomb on Hiroshima in 1945, ferry Ebner, a member of the Catholic Worker Community of Milwaukee, Joe Gump, father of twelve and husband of the imprisoned Jean Gump of the Silo Plowshares from Morton Grove, III, and Helen Woodson, acting as a "coconspirator" from Shakopee Prison in Minnesota where she is serving a 17 year sentence for the Silo Pruning Hooks action, carried out the fourth non‑violent disarmament of a minuteman missile silo controlled by Whiteman AFB in Missouri. They went to silo K‑9 near Butler, Mo., and once inside the silo area, Jerry and Joe locked themselves within the fenced in area with a kryptonite bicycle lock. After pouring their own blood in the shape of a cross on the concrete silo lid, they used one eight and one three pound sledge hammer on the tracks used to open the silo lid. They also hammered on electrical connectors and other apparatus and cut various electric wires with bolt cutters. They then hung disarmament banners and gathered in prayer and song to await arrest. They also left at the site their action statement and indictment which was signed by the three as well as a photo of Jerry, Joe and Helen. In the interest of 'conservation' they used the very same banners and bolt cutters used by the Silo Pruning Hooks and Silo Plowshares. A while later military police arrived in a vehicle armed with a machine gun and arrested Jerry and Joe. At no time did the two endanger anyone or the missile warhead.

Explaining her involvement in the action, Helen stated she participated "in spirit" through a "conspiracy for life." The three named themselves the "Transfiguration Plowshares" to commemorate the Transfiguration, the Christian feast celebrated on August 6 which recalls the revelation of Christ to his disciples as the Lord of heaven and earth and also represents a foreshadowing of Christ's resurrection.

At a mid‑August court hearing they were charged with a two count felony indictment conspiring to damage government property and destruction of government property ‑ both federal charges. In a relatively open trial, the two were allowed to show a video film entitled "Hiroshima/Nagasaki: 1945." This video, which the two carried into the silo with them, contained footage of the immediate effect of the bomb dropped on the two cities. Jerry was able to sing two songs to the jury which he first sang at the silo. Judge Howard Sachs, however, made it clear in his instructions to the jury that these things were ultimately irrelevant to the case before them. On October 22, the jury found them guilty. On December 11, 1987 ferry Ebner and Joe Gump were sentenced to 40 and 30 months respectively in prison.

TRANSFIGURATION PLOWSHARES (EAST): On August 6, 1987, Hiroshima Day and the Christian feast of the Transfiguration, Margaret Brodhead, a journalist; Dan Ethier, a former computer programmer and Catholic Worker; and Tom Lewis, artist and long‑time peace activist—all from Worcester, MA—entered the South Weymouth Naval Air Station near Boston at dawn. They hammered and poured blood on the bomb bay doors and bomb racks of a P‑3 Orion nuclear‑capable anti‑submarine plane which can use nuclear depth charges and homing torpedoes to attack submarines. They hammered as well on the magnetic anomaly detector of an S‑H 2F LAMPS MK‑1 Sea Sprite helicopter. (These same types of aircraft are currently deployed by U.S. forces in the Persian Gulf and are an integral part of U.S. offensive anti‑submarine warfare strategy which allows the Navy to project force in the Middle East as well as Central America). They also hung pictures of Hiroshima victims on the aircraft as well as a "Swords Into Plowshares" banner. In a signed statement and indictment they left at the site, they said" the blinding light of that first atomic bomb turned life into death, but the blinding light of the Transfiguration revealed that death would be turned into life in Christ's Resurrection " They further charged the "Nuclear National Security State" with contravening international and divine laws. They were taken into custody by base security shortly after their action as they knelt in prayer holding a banner that read "Christ Transfigured ‑Death Into Life."

The three were initially charged with unlawful entry, a federal misdemeanor. In December Dan plead no contest and was sentenced to six months probation and community service of 100 hours. Tom and Meg were convicted on March 4, 1988, after a 6‑hour bench trial in Boston, where they presented testimony on the unconstitutional status of the arms race and the aircraft's status as "instrumentalities of crime" under international law. Arms analyst Paul Walker and international law professor Francis Boyle testified in their behalf. Meg represented herself; Tom was represented by Cambridge attorney and activist Lee Goldstein. Sentencing; is set for April 26.

HARMONIC DISARMAMENT FOR LIFE: On August 16, 1987, the day of Harmonic Convergence, George Ostensen, a peace activist from the Northeast, in conspiracy with plowshares prisoner Helen Woodson, enacted a Plowshares action at the ELF Communication System Transmitter Site near Clam Lake, Wisconsin. Early in the morning, George entered the North ground of the ELF Trident communication system. Using a hatchet, saw, and other tools, he proceeded to cut down three ELF poles, spraypainted disarmament slogans on them, notched two other poles, and cut some ground wires. He poured blood over the poles, hammered on ground well electrical control boxes, and poured blood and ashes inside them. He also placed photos of children and planted flowers inside the boxes and near the poles. He spraypainted "Disarm First Strike" inside the boxes and hung peace banners.

In statements he carried on to the site George stated: "I act at the ELF Trident communication system in an attempt to stop these deadly messages from being transmitted. These Extremely Low Frequencies hurt our earth by subjecting all God's creatures to highly unstable electromagnetic non‑ionizing radiation and giving the Trident first‑strike capability to destroy all life." In reference to the Harmonic Convergence, the lining up of the planets on August 15 and 16, he stated the convergence is the beginning of the new aye, the age of change, movement, spiritual consciousness, and harmony according to ancient Mayan, Tibetan and Hopi calendars.

Following his action at the North Ground, George, undetected, went to the Terminal Control Center to inform the security guards on duty of his action. After spray‑painting on the Terminal Center "Trident ‑ELF is in violation of International Law and Cod's Law" and "Swords Into Plowshares" he spoke with a security guard who asked him to leave the site. George then went to a fenced in area near the control center and manually switched off several generators used to control computers and electricity at the site. This happened on three separate occasions following each time George informed security personnel that the ELF site must be shut down because it is in violation of the law. Finally, the local sherriff was called and George was arrested—some nine hours after he entered the site.

In an indictment issued in state court on August 20, George was charged with two felony counts of sabotage—both state charges and each carrying a maximum penalty of ten years in prison if convicted. The indictment also listed Helen as aiding and abetting in the action and noted the ELF site had to be closed for 29 hours. On January 10, 1988 George was convicted of one count of sabotage and acquitted on the second count, following a three day jury trial in Ashland County District Court. Though the defense of justification was disallowed during the trial, George was able to testify about the moral and legal basis for his action. The jury was also allowed to hear the testimony of Professor Francis Boyle about the application of international law to nuclear weapons policy and citizen responsibility. On February 12, 1988 George was sentenced to 33 months. He is appealing the case.

AUSTRALIAN PLOWSHARES ACTION ‑ On December 28, 1987 the feast of the Holy Innocents, Marie Grunke, a Blessed Sacrament Sister of Newtown, Joanne Merrigan and Anthony Gwyther, both of the St. Francis House, Darlinghurst, boarded the USS Leftwich during a public inspection while it was anchored in Sydney Harbor. The USS Leftwich is a nuclear‑capable destroyer of the Spruance class recently deployed in the Persian Gulf. Recalling the innocents that were killed by King Herod and those children that continue to die from war and hunger, they poured their own blood on an ASROC anti‑submarine nuclear depth charge launcher and a Tomahawk cruise missle launcher‑weapons of first‑strike capability. They hammered on these weapons to begin their disarmament and initiate their conversion into instruments of peace. After leaving their action statement on the ship, they were escorted off without being arrested or charged.

NUCLEAR NAVY PLOWSHARES ‑ On Easter Sunday, April 3, 1988 Philip Berrigan of Jonah House (and original Plowshares 8), Andrew Lawrence of the Community for Creative Non‑Violence, Sr. Margaret McKenna, a Doctor of Theology and member of the Medical Mission Sisters in Philadelphia, and Greg Boertje, former Army officer and member of Trident II Pruning Hooks and Epiphany Plowshares, boarded the battleship Iowa at Norfolk Naval Station in Virginia. The four boarded the battleship as part of a public tour greeting the vessel on its return from service in the Persian Gulf. The four disarmed two armored box launchers for the Tomahawk Cruise Missle, hammering end pouring blood, and unfurled two banners: Seek the Disarmed Christ, and Tomahawks Into Plowshares.

The four worked for two or three minutes before they were seen by security. When ordered to stop they did so: a "security alert" was sounded and the pier was vacated of all but naval personnel. Hundreds of people had come on Easter Sunday to visit the USS Iowa and the USS America which was also on display. Tours of both vessels were shut down.

Andrew, Greg, Margaret and Phil were held for some time at the Naval Base, questioned by the FBI and then transported by the FBI to Virginia Beach. They appeared in court on Monday, April 4th under charge of criminal trespass. (Destruction of government property was likely for a time. For now it seems, a decision had been made from on high to treat the action as a simple interruption of the tour.) Greg will be in court again on the 5th for a hearing on his detainer from Philadelphia The other three are being held in lieu of $2500 bail. Because of Greg's status as a fugitive (stemming from his non‑appearance at the sentencing for the Epiphany Plowshares) he is being held on $25,000 bond. Their trial is scheduled before a U.S. Magistrate on May 19, 1988 at the Norfolk Virginia Federal Court.

ADDRESSES OF PLOWSHARES‑DISARMAMENT PRISONERS

Each of the listed prisoners have different release dates. For further information about 
their exact release dates, please contact their support group. 

Helen Woodson (17 years) Alderson Women's Prison Box A, Alderson, WV 24910

Fr. Carl Kabat 03230‑045 (18 years) FCI, Box 1000, Sandstone, MN 55072 (SILO PRUNNING HOOKS)

Rich Miller 15249‑077 (4 years) c/o Kindred Community, 1337 6th Ave. Des Moines, IA 50314 (PANTEX DISARMENT ACTION)

Katya Komisaruk (5 years) Spokane County Work Release Building B. Geiger Field, PO Box 19121 Spokane, WA 99129

Philip Berrigan Andrew Lawrence Greg Boertje Sr. Margaret McKenna c/o Nuclear Navy Plowshares PO Box 9819 Hampton, VA 23670

Larry Morlan 03788‑045 (8 years) FPC, PO Box 1000 Marion, IL 62959

Jean Gump 03789‑045 (8 years) Alderson Women's Prison Box A, Alderson, WV 24910 (SILO PLOWSHARES)

Jerry Ebner (40 months) 04467‑045, FCI, PO Box 1000 Sanstone, MN 55072

Joe Gump (30 months) 04468‑045, FPC, PO Box 1085 Oxford, WI 53952

Lin Romano 37168‑066 (2 years, 100 days) FCI Lexington‑Building 209 3301 Leestown Road Lexington, KY 40514

George Ostensen (33 months) Oak Hill Correctional Institution Box 238 Oregon. WI 53575

* RESOURCES AVAILABLE

In the King of Prussia {Film) ‑ A re‑enactment of the trial of the "Plowshare Eight" produced by Emile 

DeAntonio. Available from Jonah House and Plowshares NY (see last page)

The Trial of the AVCO Plowshares ‑ Video‑tape of the "AVCO Plowshares" trial. Available on Beta and VHS 

1/2 inch from: Plowshares NY (see last page) and Global Village, 454 Broome St., New York, NY 10013 

(212‑966‑7526).

For Swords Into Plowshares ‑ The Hammer Has To Fall (Book) ‑ Edited by Dan Berrigan. Available from: 

Plowshares Press, 139 Raritan Avenue, Highland Park, NJ 08904

Violence Ends Where Love Begins (Book) ‑ Edited by Karl Welsher ‑ Available from Pershing Plowshares 

Support Committee (see last page).

Plowshares Newsletter ‑ Available from Pershing Plowshares Support Committee.

Swords Into Plowshares ‑ Harper and Row, 1987, edited by Art Laffin & Ann Montgomery. Available from 

Plowshares NY

For other resources contact Jonah House, Isaiah Peace Ministry or Plowshares NY.

ADDRESSES OF PLOWSHARES DISARMAMENT SUPPORT GROUPS

For more information concerning ongoing Plowshares‑Disarmament support activities, please contact the below groups. Whatever financial support you can contribute to these groups  be would be greatly appreciated.

Silo Pruning Hooks/Woodson Family Support Group Caudete Peace and Justice Center 634 Spruce St.

Madison, Wisconsin 53715 608‑257‑4996

Pershing Plowshares Support Committee P.O. Box 585, Orlando, FL 32802 305‑830‑ 1204

Witness for Peace at AVCO Box 736, Wilmington, MA 01887 617‑265‑ 1236

Jonah House, 1933 Park Ave. Baltimore, MD. 21217 301 ‑669‑6265

Isaiah Peace Ministry 66 Edgewood Ave., New l raven, CT 06511 203‑562‑7935

Plowshares N.Y., 225 Lafayette St., Suite 207, N.Y., N.Y. 10012 212‑226‑4151

Epiphany Plowshare Support Group Montgomery Co. Center for Peace & Justice P.O. Box 246, Ambler, PA 19002 215‑630‑8540

Pauper Plowshares Support Group PO Box 389 Ridley Park, PA 19078 215‑521‑1007

Katya Komisaruk Defense Collective 1716 Felton St. San Francisco, CA 94134 415‑821 ‑3346

Transfiguration Plowshares EAST Support Group 52 Mason St. Worcester, MA 01609 617‑757‑4293

Australian Plowshares Support c/o Marie Grunke, 43 Forbes St. Newtown, N.S.W. 2042 Australia (02) 5161534

Grlffiss Plowshares 106 Maywood Dr. Syracuse, N.Y. 13205 315‑492 ‑9060

Trident II Plowshares/Pruning Hooks Support Group Box 3291, Wayland Square Providence, RI 02906 401 ‑941 ‑4619

Martin Holladay‑Plowshares Defense Fund Box 61 Sheffield, VT 05866 802‑626‑8322

Rich Miller Support Group Kindred Comrnunity, 1337 6th Ave., Des Moines, IA 50314 515‑243‑2004

Silo Plowshares Support Group 1020 S. Wabash Ave., Rm 401 Chicago, IL 60605‑2215 312‑427‑4351

Pershlngs To Plowshares c/o Bill Boston Forststr. 3 7075 Mutlangen Fed. Rep. Germany 49‑7171‑38‑20‑1

Transfiguration Plowshares WEST Support Group 635 E. 61 st St. Kansas City, MO 64110 816‑361 ‑ 1014

Harmonic Disarmament for Life Support Group c/o Fr. Ed Beutner Rt 3, Box 324 Ashlang WI 54806 715‑746‑2549

Nuclear Navy Plowshares Support Lynn Hiller, 117 Algonquin Rd. Hampton VA 2366 1

(THIS PAMPHLET WAS PREPARED BY ART LAFFIN OF THE ISAIAH PEACE MINISTRY DECEMBER 1987. ADDITIONAL COPIES OF THIS PAMPHLET CAN BE OBTAINED FROM PLOWSHARES NY, 225 LAFAYETTE STREET, SUITE 207, NYC, NY 10012. SUGGESTED DONATION 25 CENTS EACH PLUS POSTAGE).

